







# Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance? Evidence from India

By Ruchika Joshi

December 2017







Does Gender Diversity
Improve Firm Performance?
Evidence from India

By Ruchika Joshi

December 2017

### Published in December 2017 by JustJobs Network Inc.

### Acknowledgments:

Sabina Dewan, Executive Director of the JustJobs Network, offered invaluable inputs throughout the research and writing process for this report.

JustJobs Network extends its gratitude to the United Nations Development Programme staff who collaborated in the production of this report. A special thanks to Clement Chauvet from UNDP for his inputs and invaluable feedback throughout the production of this report. And to Prachi Agarwal who not only provided research support, but also managed various moving parts of the research and dissemination events.

For more information visit www.justjobsnetwork.org or write to us at info@justjobsnetwork.org

This report was made possible through generous support from UNDP. For more information visit **www.in.undp.org/disha** 









**Cover Photo:** "Checking progress and quality" Photo by World Bank Photo Collection . Some rights reserved.

# **CONTENTS**

Introduction · · · · · · 01
Declining Female Labor Force Participation and Scope for Private Sector · · · · · · · · 02 Involvement
Literature Review · · · · · · 06
Channels Through Which Gender Diversity Affects Firm Performance • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Information processing theory
Considerations of Data, Methodology and Performance Indicators · · · · · · 12
Corporate reputation
Importance of Context in Evaluating the Diversity – Performance Link · · · · · · · · · 14
Occupational demography15Industrial setting16Climate for inclusion18
Policy Recommendations · · · · 19
Appendix
Endnotes

### Introduction

The relationship between gender diversity and firm performance has been the subject of research inquiry for over three decades now. However, if businesses were to turn to this body of literature for insights to drive their hiring practices, they would be hard-pressed to find conclusive evidence<sup>1</sup> on what to do. While some studies say that fostering gender diversity improves firm outcomes, others claim the opposite is true. Yet another set of studies find that there is no significant link between gender diversity and organizational performance. As a result, when it comes to fostering gender diversity as part of their workplace strategy,

private sector firms are often left to rely on past experiences, stereotypes and anecdotal assertions. This is a problem.

With only about one in four women working or looking for work,<sup>2</sup> India faces a dilemma of rapid economic

growth alongside lower economic participation of women.<sup>3</sup> While the productivity losses from squandering the productive potential of nearly half of India's workforce are clear,<sup>4</sup> there has not been enough focus on the opportunities and challenges women face in the workplace.

Despite recent attempts by the government to institute policies and practices toward fostering gender diversity in the workplace in hopes of encouraging more Indian women to join the workforce, many of them have fallen short in practice. This is partly because of the resistance from private sector actors, which lack rigorous evidence on how gender diversity shapes their outcomes. The workplace forms the backdrop against which diversity-enhancing policies are instituted, and firms wield sufficient power to shape their day-to-day implementation. Since firm actions and priorities are motivated by considerations of organizational performance, this paper examines the key question: How does gender diversity affect firm performance in India?

The workplace forms the backdrop against which diversity-enhancing policies are instituted, and firms wield sufficient power to shape their day-to-day implementation.

Existing literature is mostly limited to examining gender diversity in corporate boardrooms and senior management. But reaching these positions depend on the opportunities and resources that women are afforded early on in their careers. If women are

missing from the traditional career pipeline, they will be absent in corporate boardrooms as well. Here, the research is lacking.

This paper analyzes secondary data for Indian firms based on the World Bank 2014 Enterprise Survey,<sup>5</sup> to evaluate the gender diversity-performance link at the organizational level. While there is no significant effect of gender diversity on firm performance overall, when disaggregated

by sector, firms in the retail sector show positive impact of gender diversity on their performance.

Drawing from these results and highlighting the different channels through which diversity

affects organizational performance, this paper argues against narrow definitions of both firm performance - as well as - gender diversity. Limitations of data availability have so far confined researchers to examining gender diversity as a matter of proportion of women within the and men

corporate boardroom. But gender diversity is not a numbers game alone. Instead, it must be evaluated based on the opportunities women have access to and the challenges they have to

navigate, across all ranks and at every stage of their professional advancement. The way in which gender diversity impacts firm outcomes depends considerably on the context within which this relationship is being examined, making it

> imperative to collect and analyze data, both quantitative and qualitative, that captures this complex reality, instead of only relying on an incomplete understanding of what gender diversity means.

Against this backdrop the right question to ask is not whether gender diversity improves performance, but whether firms are fostering an

inclusionary climate to leverage the benefits of gender diversity toward better firm performance. The policy recommendations at the end suggest how this can be achieved.

# Declining Female Labor Force Participation and Scope for Private Sector Involvement

Gender diversity is not

a numbers game alone.

Instead, it must be evaluated

based on the opportunities

women have access to and

the challenges they have to

navigate, across all ranks

and at every stage of their

professional advancement.

Globally, female labor force participation<sup>i</sup> (FLFP) rate remains significantly lower than its male counterpart. In 2016, only 50 percent of women in the labor force were working or looking for work, compared to 76 percent of men. Moreover, according to the Global Gender Gap Report 2016, published by the World Economic Forum, in an

alarming reversal of several years of progress, the gap between men and women in terms of economic participation and opportunity has been widening. In fact, at the current rate of change, it would take 170 more years<sup>7</sup> for women to achieve economic parity with men.

In India, the situation is particularly dire. Despite economic growth, declining fertility rates and rising levels of education,8 India's FLFP rate fell sharply from just over 37 per-cent in 2005 to 27 per-cent in 2016.9

Indian women continue to perform the bulk of unpaid work. When they are employed to do paid work, it is disproportionately in the informal sector where working conditions and wages are poor.<sup>10</sup> In the formal sector, women remain glaringly absent from leadership positions<sup>11</sup> and are paid considerably less than their male counterparts for the same job.12

Women's low workforce participation is not just bad fortheirindividualeconomic empowerment but also has serious macroeconomic implications for country. For instance, there is ample evidence13 that if women participate in the

labor market to the same extent as men, it will lead to significantly higher economic growth and productivity gains for the economy. In fact, according to one study, complete gender parity could add nearly \$2.9 trillion to the country's annual gross domestic product (GDP) by 2025 - a massive 60 percent more<sup>14</sup> than if women's participation stays constant. This makes sense considering that presently the productive potential of nearly half the population is not being effectively harnessed.

Additionally, higher female labor participation also helps expand<sup>15</sup> the available pool of skilled workforce and mitigate the talent shortage faced by Indian firms – a pertinent issue discussed in more detail later.

By providing quality employment to women, which in turn leads to better opportunities for them to earn income and exercise control over household spending, India can reap the benefitsii of broader economic development. Since employment is a critical channel through which the benefits of economic growth reach

> most population, some commentators have gone so far as to argue that in economies, women's work may be the most crucial lever<sup>16</sup> for poverty reduction.

> However, the economic benefits of gender parity in the labor market do not

rest on merely bringing more women into the workforce, but instead on bringing them into quality jobs so that their productive potential can be harnessed toward a more sustainable growth trajectory. To facilitate this, governments across the world have introduced various policies that support women employees. These include improved family benefits, better access to comprehensive, affordable and high-quality child care, investment in rural infrastructure to reduce women's unpaid labor, greater expenditure on

For instance, compared to men, women typically spend a greater proportion of household income on children's education. Therefore, by encouraging higher school enrolment for children, including girls, women's labor force participation and higher earnings can kick-start a virtuous cycle of women's education and economic empowerment feeding into each other. Source: IMF. 2013. Women, Work, and the Economy: Macroeconomic Gains from Gender Equity.

The economic benefits of gender parity in the labor market do not rest on merely bringing more women into the workforce, but instead bringing them into quality jobs.

Labor force participation rate is the proportion of the population aged 15 and older that is economically active.

educating and skilling women workers, enhanced access to finance, training and social networks for women entrepreneurs, and stringent legislation against gender discrimination in the workplace.

In several countries,<sup>17</sup> governments have also taken the affirmative action of reserving quotas for women directors in corporate boardrooms. The Indian government has taken similar steps from making it mandatory for listed companies to appoint at least one female director on their board<sup>18</sup> to recently increasing paid maternity leave from 12 to 26 weeks<sup>19</sup> – the third highest globally<sup>20</sup> after Canada (50 weeks) and Norway (44 weeks).

Yet many such policies often face implementation hurdles, stemming partly from the resistance offered by private firms. For instance, in India, reservations for women in corporate boardrooms initially led to the perverse outcome that many of the appointed women directors were token representatives with no real decision-making power. In one instance, it was reported<sup>21</sup> that a woman director was serving on the boards of as many as seven listed companies! In 2017- three years after the deadline for complying with the act had passed –women directors constituted only 13 percent of all representation in the boardrooms of the top 500 companies listed on the National Stock Exchange. If multiple directorships were to be excluded, this figure would fall further to only 10 percent. Moreover, only 60 percent of all women directors were reported to be truly independent.<sup>22</sup>

Similarly, when asked how their hiring approach would change with India's new maternity bill

4

in place, over a quarter of respondents<sup>23</sup> from a sample of more than 4,300 entrepreneurs, start-ups, and small and medium enterprises, said they would now prefer to hire male employees since providing extended maternity leave and childcare facilities were expected to negatively impact their business and profitability.

Not only do firms often resist such policy changes, but in many cases they may even contribute to an adversarial labor market faced by women. Sexual harassment in the workplace continues to be a big problem<sup>24</sup> for women. In fact, while interviewing employees in BPO's, IT sector offices and various educational institutes, hospitals and legal firms across India, one survey found that about 38 percent women<sup>25</sup> had faced sexual harassment at workplace. Moreover, nearly two thirds of those surveyed admitted to the absence of provisions mandated by the 2013 Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act,<sup>26</sup> and indicated that it to be one of the main hurdles in registering a complaint.

Firms constitute the stage at which employees add value to production processes. They play a major role in effecting policies aimed at increasing female labor force participation and can significantly shape the challenges and opportunities women workers face in their day-to-day professional tasks and interactions with their colleagues. If private sector companies don't actively promote gender parity across sectors and job-roles, other efforts toward increasing women's economic participation are bound to fall short. However, firms will be motivated to

facilitate gender diversity in the workplace if doing so improves their performance outcomes in an increasingly competitive marketplace.

While the "business case for gender diversity" – i.e. the notion that diversity improves organizational processes and performance – is getting stronger,<sup>27</sup> and firms are already taking active measures<sup>28</sup> such as ensuring equal representation, providing mentoring and leadership training to women

By fostering gender diversity

at the firm level, providing

equal access to good jobs,

discouraging discriminatory

and investing in creating

ladders for women to rise

in job ranks across sectors,

we can curtail occupational

segregation and unlock

gains and economic growth.

practices

productivity

employment

significant

workers and instituting family-friendly employee policies to foster a more gender inclusive workforce, the empirical evidence on the issue tells a complex story and remains largely mixed.<sup>29</sup> Conclusions vary<sup>30</sup> from positive to negative to no effect of gender diversity on firm performance, and depend significantly on the quality of data available, type of methodology used and the context of evaluation. There remains

a dearth of conclusive research on the issue, making it imperative to explore it in much greater detail and generate layered insights based on more nuanced understanding of gender diversity and firm performance.

This is particularly important for countries like India, where one significant long-run factor underlying declining FLFP is the occupational segregation of women<sup>31</sup> into specific industries and jobs. Regressive gender norms as well as adversarial labor markets riddled with problems of wage discrimination, poor working conditions and lack of adequate skills training for women, mean that women in India are disproportionately present in occupations that have not seen employment growth overall. Between 1994 and 2010, women took up less than 19 percent of the new employment opportunities generated in India's 10 fastest growing occupations which

accounted for 90 percent of all employment growth.<sup>32</sup> This, in turn, has limited the number of job opportunities available to women and poses a barrier to their participation. In fact, in the same period, only 9 million women in India gained employment – a figure that could have nearly doubled<sup>33</sup> if women had equal access to the same industries and occupations as their male counterparts.

Clearly, there is an urgent need for reducing this occupational segregation, and the private sector is instrumental to this goal. By fostering gender diversity at the firm level, providing equal access to good jobs, discouraging discriminatory employment practices and investing in creating ladders for women to rise in job ranks across sectors, we can curtail occupational segregation and unlock significant productivity gains and economic growth.

www.justjobsnetwork.org Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance? : Evidence from India JustJobs Network 5

### Literature Review

While many important studies<sup>34</sup> have uncovered a positive association between gender diversity and firm performance, there is lack of empirically robust and consistent evidence of a causal relationship between the two. For example, investigating the link between gender diversity in senior management and financial performance of 2 million companies in Europe, authors of a recent study<sup>35</sup> documented a strong positive association between share of women in senior positions and corporate return on asset, but admitted that establishing empirical causality is difficult.

Broadly, the existing literature has sought to narrow down the ambit of research to examining the relationship between women in senior management and corporate boardrooms, and (i) firm financial performance and (ii) actions taken by the board.<sup>36</sup>

Arguing that gender diversity in the boardroom improves the monitoring role of the board and positively influences corporate governance, especially in countries that lack strong external oversight mechanisms, Campbell and Vera examined 4,050 Spanish firms to reveal a positive impact<sup>37</sup> of gender diversity on firm value. Numerous studies based on American firms highlight that gender diversity in top management positively affects firm performance,<sup>38</sup> and that certain corporate decisions pertaining to acquisitions and equity offering yield higher announcement returns, when they are taken by women rather than men.<sup>39</sup>

In India, Sarkar and Selarka analyzed more than 10,000 firms over a 10-year period to find that gender diversity in the boardroom has a positive impact<sup>40</sup> on both firm value and firm profitability. Examining the presence of independent women directors on the board, another recent study of large listed Indian companies also concluded that independent gender diverse boards positively influenced<sup>41</sup> the financial performance of firms.

On the other hand, studying 1,939 firms in the U.S., Adams and Ferreira found that although gender diversity in boardrooms is positively associated with firm outcomes such as greater participation of directors in decision-making and better alignment of shareholder interests through equity-based compensation, the average effect of gender diversity on firm performance is negative.<sup>42</sup> In Norway, where a ground-breaking law was passed in 2003 mandating 40 percent of all public-limited firms' directors be women, Ahern and Dittmar found that the constraint led to a significant fall in the stock price, less experienced board composition, increase in leverage and acquisitions and a decline in firm performance.43

Other studies have found no significant relationship between gender diversity and firm performance. For example, an analysis of 4,200 entrepreneurs across Sweden revealed that despite systematic differences between femaleand male- headed firms, there was no significant evidence of female underperformance<sup>44</sup> on the

firm's economic variables including sales and profitability. Another study of publicly listed Chinese firms failed to find any clear link between CEO gender and firm's return-on-asset or return-on-equity.<sup>45</sup>

In conclusion, the overall empirical evidence on whether gender-diversity in senior management leads to better firm performance is mixed.

Most

existina

focuses on the impact that

women in corporate boards

have on firm outcomes,

which creates a critical gap

in the literature especially

when one considers that

for women to reach the

boardroom, they need to

be present throughout the

pipeline, i.e. from entry-

level to executive and

management positions.

research

Most existing research focuses on the impact that women in corporate boards have on firm outcomes, which creates a critical gap in the literature especially when one considers that for women to reach the boardroom, they need to be present throughout the pipeline, i.e. from entry-level to executive and management positions.

Traditionally, the primary route to becoming a board director is through CEO-

experience.<sup>46</sup> In 2011, 51 percent of all Fortune 500 directors had prior CEO experience.<sup>47</sup> In fact, with 97 percent of respondents considering professional experience to be "critical" and "important", a survey by the National Association of Corporate Directors concluded CEO-level experience to be the single most important functional background in recruiting a new director.<sup>48</sup> In 2015, 30 percent of all new independent directors in Fortune 500 companies were active or former senior executives.<sup>49</sup>

Since women presently constitute merely 6.4 percent of all Fortune 500 CEOs<sup>50</sup> and only a quarter of all executive and management positions,<sup>51</sup> it is easy to see that one key reason for why women are absent from corporate boards is their under-representation in the traditional pipeline to board service.<sup>52</sup> In fact, in 2016, one-third of all global businesses had no women in senior roles – a statistic that had remained

Even when women are promoted to managerial roles, find progress hindered by lack experience in roles that revolve around generation or profit and loss responsibility.54 Additionally, lack of mentoring relationships networking opportunities prevent women from climbing up the corporate ladder.55

Addressing these issues requires alignment between organizational priorities, strategies and processes. Moreover, since gender diversity affects firm performance through several processes within workgroups, as explained earlier, it is important to examine how these dynamics play out at executive and mid-management levels as well, where the day-to-day functional decisions are taken and executed. While senior executives may set the broader corporate strategy, it is the

middle management, department managers and salaried supervisors who are key to how these policies are implemented.<sup>56</sup> As a result, we need to go a step further to examine the impact of gender diversity at the organizational level.

Yet there is a serious dearth of research on impact of gender diversity on this front,<sup>57</sup> and the few studies that do examine the effect of firm-level gender diversity on performance don't paint a clear picture.

Evaluating performance as return on equity, McMillan-Capehart found it had a positive

The mixed evidence on impact

performance can be explained

by which channels of diversity-

performance are activated, and

the data, methodology and

performance indicators being used.

of gender diversity

association<sup>58</sup> with organizational gender diversity. On the other hand, examining the relationship between store sales and gender diversity across 700 stores, one study concluded that the effect of gender

diversity in the workplace was non-significant.<sup>59</sup> Although, this result might be because of the routine tasks performed by employees, which don't involve complex decision making, problem solving or information processing – all channels through which gender diversity positively affects workplace performance.

To resolve the competing positive and negative predictions, some studies indicate that the relationship might in fact be non-linear. According to Frink et al. gender composition and

firm performance have an inverted U-shaped relationship,<sup>60</sup> with the organization's profitability being highest when equal proportions of men and women were present in the workplace. Using employee productivity as a measure of firm performance, yet another study found partial support for both a positive linear gender diversity-performance relationship, along with evidence for an inverted U-shaped curvilinear association<sup>61</sup> which qualified and refined the linear prediction, to give more layered insight. The study reported that at low and moderate levels of gender diversity, the relationship between diversity and

on firm

performance was positive, after which it levelled off and then became negative as gender diversity increased.

The mixed evidence on impact of gender diversity on firm

performance can be explained by which channels of diversity-performance are activated, and the data, methodology and performance indicators being used. But the most critical aspect to this is an understanding of gender diversity that extends beyond the numerical representation of men and women in an organization, and examines the context within which this relationship is being examined.

Each of these aspects have been explained in the following sections.

# Channels Through Which Gender Diversity Affects Firm Performance

The demography of a work-

group critically influences

group processes which affect

group performance, which

in turn shapes organization

performance.

The demography of a work-group critically influences group processes,<sup>62</sup> which affect group

performance, which in turn shapes organization's performance.<sup>63</sup> Several theories underpin this link between organizational demography and performance. These can be narrowed down to three primary perspectives:

information processing; similarity-attraction; and social categorization and identification theory. Depending on which channel is more activated, the effect of gender diversity on firm performance can be negative or positive.

### Information processing theory

One central view is that there is "value in diversity". This optimistic view of diversity draws from the information-processing approach, according to which a diverse group encourages individuals to access other individuals with backgrounds, experiences, networks, information, education and expertise that are different from their own. By facilitating a positive environment of constructive disagreements, debates and discussions, diversity in work groups furthers novel insights, creativity and innovation, and advanced-problem solving geared toward higher-order outcomes – far better than what would be possible in more

homogenous teams.<sup>65</sup> This is because when presented with conflicting opinions, knowledge,

perspectives, a diverse group can consider, discuss and evaluate all relevant interpretations, alternatives and consequences, before narrowing down to a common resolution and making the relevant task-related decision.

Interestingly, just the presence of diversity can also signal that a difference of opinions is likely and should be expected, in turn enabling a group to handle conflict and solve problems in a better manner.<sup>66</sup> Through this channel of information-processing, gender diversity can be a source of sustained competitive advantage<sup>67</sup> for the organization.

Amidst intense competition firm-level gender diversity allows businesses to serve their clients better.<sup>68</sup> By matching their firms' demographic composition to those of critical consumer groups, companies can leverage familiarity with niche markets to gain a competitive advantage. Considering that the "niche market" in question refers to nearly a billion women who would enter the global economy by 2020 for the very first time as employees, entrepreneurs and consumers,<sup>69</sup> it is critical for firms to have a gender diverse workforce if they are to tap into the spending

power and economic potential of the "third billion".

Having more women on the team equips firms to understand their unique requirements and spending behaviour as consumers. For instance, one study<sup>70</sup> quoted a CEO who said, "we are in the healthcare business, and most decisions about healthcare are made by women. So not having women on the board would be ridiculous. I don't think companies in the types of businesses where women make most of the spending decisions can get good input from their directors when they don't have women on the board. You get a much better sense of what's going on in the real world if you have the woman's viewpoint in the boardroom".

Another example is that when voice recognition software in cars was first launched, it barely recognized women's voices because the original design team had low female representation and consequently female inputs, during the development stages. As a result, the software ended up calibrated to the voices and speech

patterns of the male **Evidence corroborates that** members of the design companies with greater team, and when launched gender diversity generated failed to serve femaleend users<sup>71</sup> since their more commands were not innovative products and recognized by their cars. services as compared to the

But the case for gender diversity in teams extends

10

beyond identity group representation. Increased gender diversity at team level also enhances the innovative capacity and performance of both individuals and teams, and consequently for

rest.

firms.<sup>72</sup> Evidence corroborates<sup>73</sup> that companies with greater gender diversity generated more revenues from innovative products and services as compared to the rest. Analyzing a sample of 1,500 S&P firms, Dezsö and Ross showed that firms with female representation in senior management not only exhibited greater "innovation intensity", but also generated, on average, USD 40 million more in economic value<sup>74</sup> compared to firms which had no women in their top management teams.

The importance of gender diversity to spur innovation is especially relevant today as businesses across sectors are struggling to cope with the disruptions<sup>75</sup> accompanying sweeping technological advancements. From automation to artificial intelligence, these transformations bring opportunities as well as challenges for businesses as they strive to stay competitive against new products, services or business models that are completely supplanting the existing versions.

Women managers are positively associated with such "disruptive innovation",76 as they are more

> likely than men to exhibit key leadership behaviours,77 such as investing in people development and matching professional expectations suitable rewards. Despite being critical to the business needs of the future, these leadership

qualities are in short supply today, 78 strengthening the case for firms to foster gender diversity and leverage it toward navigating a rapidly changing marketplace.

### Similarity-attraction, and social categorization and identification theory

A more pessimistic view of diversity however, is that it creates social divisions which hinder social integration and cohesion, in turn leading to negative outcomes for the group.<sup>79</sup>

Two main theories support this view. According to the similarity attraction paradigm, individuals with similar attitudes, values and beliefs tend to exhibit greater interpersonal liking and affiliation toward each other.80 But even without any prior social interaction with one another, individuals can display preferences for members from particular groups. According to the social categorization and the social identification theory,<sup>81</sup> individuals create a self-identity based on social categories such as race, gender, values or beliefs. This selfidentity is closely linked to their self-esteem in social situations. As a result, to maintain a positive sense of self in comparison to other individuals with distinct social characteristics, they not only overemphasize their differences but also perceive these differences negatively, which hampers group processes such as communication and cohesion.82

When individuals categorize themselves and others in a hierarchical structure at the personal or group levels, there are differences in expectations for in-group and out-group members, leaving out-group members more prone to stereotyping than those within.83 These stereotypes feed into

"in-group" bias toward individuals belonging to similar social categories, and negatively affect group performance.

For instance, consider the problem of favoritism that stems from such an "in-group" bias, particularly in contexts where selection criteria is extremely subjective. Women are often excluded from informal networks of advice, sponsorship support and mentorship. As out-group members, women's achievements and competence are attributed to external factors of luck and special treatment, and are overshadowed by those of ingroup male counterparts whose achievements are attributed to intrinsic strengths of intelligence, commitment and ambition. Despite having displayed objectively equal performance, women are held to higher standards and have to be better than their male counterparts to be considered for the same role.84 As authors of one study<sup>85</sup> argue, "women's competence has to be widely acknowledged in the public domain or through family connections before boards . . . will be prepared to 'risk' having a woman on the board."

Therefore, if gender diversity produces negative behavior such as reduced communication,86 stereotype-based role expectations,87 a lack of cohesion88 and cooperation,89 and increased conflict<sup>90</sup> among employees, it can lead to low individual and group performance, which in turn may amount to diminished aggregate organizational performance.91

from

revenues

### Considerations of Data, Methodology and **Performance Indicators**

The other key reason underlying the mixed empirical evidence is the lack of data. Typically, the available data is restricted to publicly listed companies and pertains narrowly to gender composition in the boardroom, which is a problem because the resulting sample size is too small to be meaningful.92 Not only does this make it difficult to detect a statistically significant effect of gender diversity - especially if it is small in magnitude - but it also ignores the broader corporate sector where small- and medium- sized enterprises account for a considerable share of overall output and employment.93 Additionally, there is a significant gap in data on gender

composition by hierarchy within organizations.

methodological Other shortcomings such as short-term observations of performance measures, difficulty in controlling for reverse causation (i.e.

effect of firm performance on gender diversity), measurement errors, endogeneity issues and omission of important variables that affect performance, also contribute to the varied empirical results. Mixed findings might also stem from the variation in time periods, countries, economic environments and type of firms under examination, as well as from varied performance indicators used across studies.94

Measuring performance outcomes in terms of return on assets, return on equity and stock prices, also fails to capture the true extent of impact of gender-diversity on firm performance. Workplace diversity dynamics are complex, and affect firm performance through many channels, the effects of which may not be captured in narrow measures of financial performance. There is a need to expand the notion of what constitutes improved firm performance and to carefully evaluate how gender diversity impacts firm outcomes as a whole. For example, in addition to direct measures of firm profitability, we need to examine how diversity affects other factors such

as talent recruitment

corporate reputation,

which in turn are linked

to economic dividends.

These effects are often

complex to measure

and may not be

There is a need to expand the and retention, as well as notion of what constitutes improved firm performance and to carefully evaluate how gender diversity impacts firm outcomes as a whole.

> accurately assessed if the performance variables being examined are unidimensional.

### **Corporate reputation**

Increased membership of female directors is positively associated with corporate reputation.95 A survey of all Global Fortune 500 companies<sup>96</sup> found that well-reputed companies had twice as many women in senior management compared to those held in lesser regard. Another study<sup>97</sup> found that as the number of women directors on the corporate boards of the Fortune 500 companies increased, the probability of the companies to be ranked higher on corporate responsibility and ethical orientation increased, which in turn had clear economic benefits for the firms. For instance, a positive corporate reputation can improve the company's corporate branding which is instrumental for launching new products and tapping new markets,98 along with increasing its financial performance, share price, and the institutional investment it attracts.99

The link between corporate reputation and gender diversity is of more relevance now than ever before. As the recent episodes of sexism in big companies like Google and Uber depict,

a company's internal culture and workplace dynamics are no longer 'internal'.100 With rapid advancements how we consume and disseminate information, consumers can now see every aspect of how a business functions. As workgroup processes become a fundamental part of a company's

brand, and consumers have more agency to reward or punish firms based on their internal culture, there is a pressing urgency for firms to increase gender diversity to stay competitive.

### Talent acquisition and retention

The other firm outcome that must be evaluated as part of performance is talent. In an increasingly diverse labor market, actively promoting gender diversity can help firms to attract and retain the best talent, which is critical for firms to perform well.

More than half of those employers facing the challenge of bridging the talent gap feel that they are not able to serve their clients satisfactorily, which decreases their competitiveness in the market.<sup>101</sup> To recruit the best people, an organisation must take advantage of the entire talent pool and tap into the potential of eligible women candidates. This is especially important if there exists a competitive talent shortage, as is the case for firms in India.102

workgroup processes become a fundamental part of a company's brand, and consumers have more agency to reward or punish firms based on their internal culture, there is a pressing urgency for firms to increase gender diversity to stay competitive.

With only 2 percent of India's labor force qualifying as formally skilled,103 58 percent of firms in India encounter difficulty findina qualified employees.104 Moreover, estimating period between 2013 and 2022, the National Skill Development

Corporation found the non-farm sector would require an additional 120 million skilled workers, in turn indicating that the shortage of workers is likely to remain a major concern for firms in India.

As the proportion of Indian women pursuing secondary and tertiary education increases, <sup>105</sup> it makes sound business sense for firms to foster

gender diversity and draw in women candidates, who are more likely to prefer working for organisations that value gender diversity and are therefore more likely to invest in their professional growth and job-satisfaction. If firms limit their hiring to male

candidates, despite the presence of eligible women candidates, the talent shortage would be more severe.

Retaining the best talent is equally important, since employee turnover is expensive. It has been estimated that the cost to replace an employee

can amount to half of their annual salary, while total turnover costs can range from 150 to 200 percent.<sup>106</sup> Actively affirming their commitment to diversity in the workplace can help firms decrease turnover,<sup>107</sup> since employees are inclined to stay on in firms

where they are treated fairly and have access to the same opportunities as their colleagues.<sup>108</sup>

# Importance of Context in Evaluating the Diversity – Performance Link

As the proportion of Indian

women pursuing secondary

increases, it makes sound

business sense for firms to

foster gender diversity and

draw in women candidates.

tertiary education

In addition to considerations of data, methodology and outcome indicators in understanding the diverse findings, it is equally important to note that the issue of gender diversity in the workplace has been reduced to a simple numbers game. But gender diversity goes much beyond the proportion of men and women in a firm, and must be understood as such. It matters when, where and how women participate in the workplace.

There is emerging evidence that the influence of women directors on corporate boards is considerably shaped by the broader context, <sup>109</sup> i.e.

14

the situational settings within which professional working relationships and interactions occur. While theoretical perspectives of information processing, similarity-attraction, and social categorization and identification theory explain why gender diversity might manifest in specific work-group or organizational outcomes, a careful consideration of the context is important to understand when, where and how it happens. By determining the specific constraints as well as opportunities that shape team dynamics, situational settings can either reduce or amplify the direct impact of gender diversity on

performance,<sup>110</sup> thus reconciling some mixed empirical evidence from past research.<sup>111</sup>

Three key contextual influences that affect the gender diversity-firm performance link are occupational demography, industry setting and climate for inclusion.

### Occupational demography

When one demographic group dominates an occupational setting, negative stereotypes against underrepresented groups are exacerbated and distinguishing information about minority group members at an individual level is ignored. Status differences in the broader social context between the dominant demographic group

Research evidence increasingly

points towards the notion that

for gender diversity to affect

performance, a 'critical mass'

of women must constitute the

work group.

and the minorities may also filter into team-level interactions, with overrepresented individuals being perceived as having greater expertise. This, in turn, hampers performance of

individuals from the minority demographic group, negatively affects team interaction, and contributes to poor performance outcomes.<sup>112</sup>

Joshi and Roh give the example of one such occupational category of production engineers. Given the broader context where majority of production engineers in the labor market are male, female engineers within a mixed team are prone to negative stereotyping such as possessing inferior technical competence. They also have lesser access to resources, which shapes

their overall team performance unfavorably. The authors' meta-analysis of 8,757 teams, confirms that in a male-dominated occupational setting, gender diversity had more negative effects on performance outcomes compared to more gender-balanced settings, where these effects were weaker.<sup>113</sup>

Another example is when women are appointed as token members to symbolise diversity in the boardroom and in senior management. Studies confirm that token members often experience social isolation, greater scrutiny and marginalisation, which leads to poor outcomes.<sup>114</sup> Tokenism perpetuates gender stereotypes as women in a minority feel compelled to

make themselves socially invisible by downplaying their distinct skills, attributes and perspectives so as to avoid disrupting perceived group harmony and alleviate any discomfort felt within the

male-dominant group.<sup>115</sup> This, of course, hinders their performance and reinforces false notions that women don't bring anything new to the table.

Research evidence increasingly points towards the notion that for gender diversity to affect performance, a 'critical mass' of women must constitute the work group.

Examining a sample of 458 women directors on Norwegian boards, one study<sup>116</sup> concluded that women perceive that their influence on

decision making processes of the board increases with the ratio of board membership held by women directors. Analysing the supervisory boards of 151 German stock exchange firms over a five year period, Joecks at al. report that at very low levels of gender diversity there are negative effects on firm performance. But this changes when the proportion of women reaches 30 percent, following which diverse teams

demonstrate superior performance to more homogenous teams.<sup>117</sup> Similar results have been observed in organizationlevel analysis as well, but results on what constitutes proportion the optimal critical mass vary considerably.118

"While a lone woman can and often does make substantial contributions, and two women are generally more powerful

16

than one, increasing the number of women to three or more enhances the likelihood that women's voices and ideas are heard and that boardroom dynamics change substantially...Suddenly having women in the room becomes a normal state of affairs. No longer does any one woman represent the 'woman's point of view,' because the women express different views and often disagree with each other. Women start being treated as individuals with different personalities, styles, and interests. Women's tendencies to be more collaborative but also to be more active in asking questions and raising different issues start to become the boardroom norm."

### Industrial setting

In addition to occupational demography, another key contextual factor that moderates the relationship between gender diversity and performance is the industrial setting, which refers to the specific business environment in which

beyond

settings to

contingencies

regulatory

market

As Konrad et al.119 note, "While a lone woman can and often does make substantial contributions, and two women are generally more powerful than one, increasing the number of women to three or more enhances the likelihood that women's voices As Konrad et al.<sup>119</sup> note, and ideas are heard and that boardroom dynamics change substantially...Suddenly having women in the room becomes a normal state of affairs."

significant bearing organizational processes. For instance, compared to the manufacturing

the workgroups are

embedded. These go

technological change,

customer demands and

factors that differ

by industry and have

occupational

include

pressure,

competition

industry, which relies more on physical capital and equipment, the service industry - which includes sectors such as education, retail trade and hospitality– is more customer-oriented. Close interaction and engagement with the customers creates more room for discretionary behaviour on the part of employees as part of operating teams, which has direct consequences for performance outcomes such as sales, customer satisfaction and customer retention.120

In fact, one way this context manifests in performance outcomes is how demographic diversity can give a competitive edge to a firm in the service industry market.<sup>121</sup> For example, the market insight advantage of gender diverse

The

advantage

diverse

customer

market

of

more likely to improve

the performance of firms

in the retail sector where

and retention are more

closely linked to employee

diversity attributes.

workgroups is

workgroups is more likely to improve the performance of firms in the retail sector where customer satisfaction and retention are more closely linked to employee diversity attributes. A retail firm which fosters gender diversity is more likely to attract women customers and increase sales, compared to a firm that fails to improve its employee diversity and market share. Similarly, high-

technology industries that depend on invention and innovation to develop globally competitive short-cycle products are more likely to benefit more from the varied skills, knowledge, attitudes and networks that fostering employee diversity brings.122

In comparison, firms in the manufacturing sector depend more on equipment, technology and raw materials to improve performance outcomes, and are more likely to implement HR practices that involve greater supervision of employee behavior. This may lead to diminishing the impact of diversity on organizational performance. 123 Moreover, along with having a lower degree of job interdependence,124 separate workstreams in manufacturing industries means that there is little interaction between men and women making it

difficult for organizations to leverage the benefits of collaboration toward higher order outcomes.<sup>125</sup>

Indeed, empirical evidence supports the argument for evaluating the effect of gender diversity on

insiaht

gender

satisfaction

firm performance in context of industry setting. In their analysis which reveals that firm performance peaks in gender-balanced settings, Frink et al. find that this holds true in the service industry but not in manufacturing, thus suggesting industries differ in their ability to benefit fostering gender diversity.<sup>126</sup> Sampling Australian firms, Ali et al. also found evidence

of moderating effects of industry type indicating that the positive impact of gender diversity is stronger for firms in the services industry and the negative impact of gender diversity is stronger for firms in the manufacturing industry. 127

My analysis of Indian firms also showed that while the effect of gender diversity on employee productivity and total output of the firm was statistically insignificant overall, the effect of gender diversity on employee productivity was statistically significant and positive in enterprises operating in the retail sector. While the retail sector is relatively a low productivity sector overall, gender-diverse firms in the retail sector have higher labor productivity as compared to more demographically homogenous retail firms.

JustJobs Network 17

### Climate for inclusion

Another critical factor for harnessing the productive potential of women employees is creating an enabling climate of inclusion for them. To leverage the true potential of gender diversity in firm performance, employers need to go beyond the short term goals of token representation, plurality and diversity management, to focus instead on creating an environment of inclusion.

It must be noted that while valuing differences and introducing diversity training and management to

prevent sexual harassment To leverage the true potential and discrimination and of gender diversity in firm promoting mentoring, skills training, and familyperformance, friendly policies, are crucial, need to go beyond the they do not automatically short term goals of token lead to inclusion and representation, empowerment of minority employees. and diversity management,

As Sabharwal<sup>128</sup> explains in her study, "employees making use of work/life

balance programs or alternative work arrangements report backlash and are often singled out as receiving preferential treatment. These programs will not be successful as long as they are viewed as "accommodations" that benefit one group more than the others. Employees taking advantage of such policies are deemed to work in less desirable jobs. Single mothers taking advantage of alternative work arrangements are labeled to be on the "mommy track," are taken less seriously, and are often passed over for promotions (Saltzstein, Ting,

& Saltzstein, 2001). Very few men use such policies for fear of career derailment or of being labeled as "uncommitted". Such perceptions are strengthened by unsupportive organizational culture in which supervisors do more to create an exclusionary, rather than an inclusionary, work environment."

The positive channel of information-processing mentioned previously - through which gender diversity improves performance - will not automatically result from having more women in the workplace. Instead, this channel needs to be enabled by an inclusionary environment.

employers

plurality

to focus instead on creating

an environment of inclusion.

To integrate and utilize a diverse workforce toward achieving organizational goals, firms need to encourage minority employees to freely express themselves, as well as to deliberately include them to bear on the organization's decision making processes. There is a need to create environment where employees feel valued and

recognized for their work, have a higher sense of self-esteem and feel comfortable to express their ideas and opinions safely. Achieving this requires effective commitment from top leadership and empowering all employees with the right resources to deliver high performance.129

There is growing evidence to support the importance of a climate for inclusion in evaluating the diversity-performance link. Examining data from a survey of public managers

in the state of Texas in the U.S., one study found that inclusive organizational behaviours that

A study

gender-diversity

diverse groups.

climate

foster commitment from top leaders and involve employees in decisionmaking processes positively organizational impact performance.130 Another study reported that climate for inclusivity moderates the link between genderdiversity and workgroup dynamics, so that lower levels of conflict are experience by gender-diverse groups. 131

Against this backdrop, it is clear that gender diversity is not just about ensuring fair

representation of men and women in teams. There is a pressing need to include the context in which

reported that

moderates the link between

that lower levels of conflict

are experience by gender-

workgroup dynamics,

inclusivity

the diversity-performance link is being examined. has important implications for resolving the mixed results observed in previous studies. It is not enough to ask whether gender diversity improves performance. We need to address further whether firms are fostering the right climate of inclusion

to leverage gender diversity towards better firm performance. Examining the broader situational settings allows us to do just that.

### Policy Recommendations

To address the persistent challenges, the following framework must be effected:

1. Creating a supportive labor market for women in collaboration with the private sector

The need for better policies that draw women into the workforce is greater than ever. But the government should actively engage the private sector in designing the policies since the private sector is a key stakeholder who can significantly

shape the extent to which these policies are successfully implemented.

Policymakers should also strengthen the current focus on skilling female workers, so that they are not stuck in low-productivity jobs and can increase their contribution in mixed groups.

At the same time, they need to address the demand side of the labor market as well. There is no point skilling workers for jobs that don't exist. Countries like South Africa and Spain have

18 www.justjobsnetwork.org Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance?: Evidence from India JustJobs Network 19

III In the current analysis, only firms with a female to male employee ratio between 0.7 to 1.3 are considered to be gender diverse. See appendix for the detailed methodology and results.

pioneered youth wage subsidies.<sup>132</sup> India could pilot the world's first wage subsidy policy for women - where the state pays a portion of the salary earned by entry-level female workers. Another example would be offering tax rebates to companies that achieve gender diversity targets among all permanent employees and in positions of leadership.

Promoting gender-sensitive infrastructure must also be a top priority. This means setting up hostels, crèches, public toilets and safe public transport for women workers of all ages and occupations, or subsidizing private firms which do so.

### 2. Fostering a climate of inclusion in the workplace throughout women's career trajectories

Firms, especially those in the service sector and geared toward innovation, should strive to create an inclusionary climate where women employees can freely express their differences and have access to equal resources. In addition to diversity management practices, firms can improve their performance by instituting leadership dedicated to fostering inclusion and empowering women employees to shape decision making processes, across all ranks in the organization and not just for women in senior management.

It is important that women are afforded equal opportunities in their careers early on, so they can climb the corporate ladder as fast as their male colleagues and the gender gap can be

closed before it widens. Firms should have formal programs and measurable targets to foster such an inclusionary environment that benefits all employees equally, enables high performance from everyone and effectively checks any diversity backlash.

### 3. Expanding the evidence base on gender diversity across all levels in the organization

There is a serious dearth of data that captures the context in which diverse teams work. In fact, one key constraint limiting previous studies to measuring only the proportion of men and women in boardrooms and senior management is the lack of data on women in mid- and entry-level positions, as well as on the indicators pertaining to diversity management and inclusion.

Despite increasing agreement on the value of diversity, very few businesses have programs or processes to formally measure their own progress in improving firm-level gender diversity. This needs to change. Firms should monitor and evaluate metrics that track women's progress from entry to leadership, as well as capture contextual factors, to determine why, where and when outstanding talent drops out of the race for leadership positions, and then bridge the gaps that are identified.

Finally, there is a need to explore further what management practices constitute a successful diversity inclusion program and how they can be integrated as part of organizational processes.

## **Appendix**

### **Empirical methodology and results**

The main objective of this study is to analyze the effect of gender diversity on firm performance. Gender diversity relates to the gender composition of a firm. A firm with perfect gender diversity is one which has an equal proportion of men and women. However, allowing for random variation around the even gender ratio, companies with an uneven gender ratio may still qualify for gender diversity if the imbalance is not significant.

In the current analysis, only firms with a female to male employee ratio between 0.7 to 1.3 are considered to be gender diverse, i.e. in a company with a total of 100 employees, if female employees are more than 41 and less than 57, then the company is designated as a genderdiverse enterprise.

The lower limit of 0.7 and the upper limit of 1.3 have been selected for two reasons. First, this helps separate the effect of balanced workforce since the limits are not far away from equal distribution, and allow for random variations around the even gender ratio. Second, under these limits, the dataset provides a significant number of genderdiverse firms, thereby reducing the chance factor during the estimation. Although the number of gender-diverse firms under examination would have increased if a wider interval had been selected, doing so would have also diluted the concept of gender diversity. However, since there remains an element of subjectivity in setting

these limits, scholars' opinions may differ on what the appropriate range should be.

Firm performance, on the other hand, is measured by average employee productivity which is calculated by dividing total sales value by the number of employees. Economic literature shows that one of the important factors that affects productivity is capital stock. Capital stock also accounts for technology in a company. In this study, capital stock is controlled for by including fixed capital in the empirical model.

Data for the present study is from the World Bank's Enterprise Surveys for the year 2014. It provides information on female and male employment for 2,112 enterprises distributed across eleven industrial sectors in India. Of these, only 190 firms are gender diverse as per the chosen definition.

To capture the effect of gender diversity on firm performance, this study uses the dummy variable technique, which helps investigate whether the performance – measured here as labor productivity - of gender-diverse firms is significantly different from those lacking gender diversity, after controlling for other important factors affecting the dependent variable. The dummy variable is 1 for gender-diverse firms (i.e. firms where female to male ratio is between 0.7 and 1.3) and 0 for firms without gender diversity (i.e. firms where female to male ratio below 0.7 or more than 1.3).

In addition to exploring whether there is a significant differential effect of having a genderbalanced workforce on productivity, this study also investigates whether differential effects exist across industrial sectors. In other words, this study attempts to examine whether the effect of gender diversity on firm performance varies by industry setting. To do that, it separately estimates a dummy variable interaction model, where the gender-diversity dummy variable interacts with the industry dummy variables.

Formally, the basic form of the empirical model that we estimate is as follows:

 $Y_1 = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1$ Genderdiversity +  $\alpha_2 D_1 + \alpha_2 D_2 + \alpha_3 D_3 + \alpha_4 D_4 + \alpha_5 D_4 + \alpha_5 D_5 +$  $\alpha_3$ Genderdiversity,\*D, + x, $\beta$  +  $\epsilon_i$ (i $\in$ 1,2...,n)

where Y is the log of employee productivity in firm i. This is calculated by dividing total sales

value by total number of employees. Genderdiversity is a dummy variable taking on output per worker is value 1 for firms with statistically a balanced workforce. and positive in enterprises and zero otherwise. D, is industry dummy.  $x_i\beta$  is a 1xk operating in the retail sector. statistically insignificant. vector of control variables,

expressed in log form. Finally,  $\varepsilon_i$  is the error term. The coefficients  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  capture the differential effect of gender diversity on productivity, and industrial differential intercepts, respectively. Whereas, the coefficient on the interaction term  $(\alpha_s)$  captures the effect of gender diversity on employee productivity in a particular industry.

Several robustness checks are performed, such as the use of robust standard errors, which overcomes issues arising from heteroscedasticity iv and autocorrelation. In another robustness check, the dependent variable is measured differently.

It may further be noted that of the 11 industries under examination, interaction effects were introduced for only five industries due to lack of sufficient number of gender diverse firms in the remaining six industries. The signs and statistical significance of the control variables used in the model are consistent with economic theory, indicative of correct specification of the econometric model.

This study finds that as the share of female to male employee increases, average employee productivity falls. The total value of output in firms with relatively higher share of female

significant

workers is lower than in **The effect of gender diversity** firms with higher share of male employees. But these effect of gender diversity on both total output and employee productivity is

> In the retail sector, of a total 328 firms there are only 18 firms where gender diversity exists as per the given definition. The effect of gender diversity on output per worker is statistically significant and positive in enterprises operating in this sector. In terms of responsiveness, a one percent increase in gender diversity in retail sector raises

Table 1 **Effect of Gender Diversity on Total Output** 

Independent Variables	With robust standard errors  Dependent variable: logarithms of total output		
Constants	7.364*** (0.020)	5.124*** (0.251)	
Gender Diversity	0.029 (0.063)	-0.060 (0.062)	
Technology	_	0.151*** (0.048)	
Number of workers		0.910*** (0.040)	
R-square	0.0001	0.578	
No. of observations	1946	611	

Note: (a) figures in parenthesis represent robust standard errors (b) \*=p<0.10, \*\*=p<0.05, and \*\*\*=p<0.01.

Table 2 **Effect of Gender Diversity on Average Employee Productivity** 

ndependent /ariables	With robust standard errors Dependent variable: logarithms of output		
Constants	5.876*** (0.013)	5.080*** (0.250)	
Gender Diversity	-0.082** (0.037)	-0.068 (0.062)	
Technology		0.133*** (0.0422)	
Number of workers		0.910*** (0.040)	
R-square	0.001	0.056	
No. of observations	1946	611	

Note: (a) figures in parenthesis represent robust standard errors (b) \*=p<0.10, \*\*=p<0.05, and \*\*\*=p<0.01.

the overall output per worker by 0.34 percent. These results suggest that gender-diverse firms in the retail sector have higher labor productivity as compared to more demographically homogenous retail firms.

22 www.justjobsnetwork.org Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance?: Evidence from India JustJobs Network 23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup>Bertrand, M., E. Dufflo, and S. Mullainathan. 2004. "How much Should We Trust Difference in Differences Estimates?" Quarterly Journal of Economics CXIS: 249-275.

Table 3
Effect of Gender Diversity on Productivity and on Employee Productivity in Retail

Productivity (Log)	Coefficients	Robust Standard Error	t	P >  t	[95% Col Inter	
Capital (log)	.1211893	.0436564	2.78	0.006	.0354532	.2069255
Gender Diversity	1078196	.0682026	-1.58	0.114	2417618	.0261225
Retail	1777133	.0678882	-2.62	0.009	311038	0443887
Gender Diversity in Retail	.3410722	.1650677	2.07	0.039	.0168979	.6652464
Constant	5.172824	.2635952	19.62	0.000	4.655153	5.690495

### **Endnotes**

- <sup>1</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>2</sup>World Development Indicator: International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database.
- <sup>3</sup> Steven K., Bourmpoula E. & Silberman A. 2014. Why is female labour force participation declining so sharply in India? ILO Research Paper No. 10, International Labour Office.
- <sup>4</sup>McKinsey Global Institute. 2015. The Power of Parity.
- <sup>5</sup> Enterprise Surveys (http://www.enterprisesurveys.org/data/exploreeconomies/2014/india),The World Bank.
- <sup>6</sup>World Development Indicator: International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database.
- <sup>7</sup> World Economic Forum. 2016. The Global Gender Gap Report, 2016.
- Steven K., Bourmpoula E. & Silberman A. 2014. Why is female labour force participation declining so sharply in India? ILO Research Paper No. 10, International Labour Office.
- <sup>9</sup>World Development Indicator: International Labour Organization, ILOSTAT database.
- <sup>10</sup> Ghosh, J. 2009. Never Done and Poorly Paid: Women's Work in Globalising India. New Delhi: Women Unlimited.
- <sup>11</sup> Grant Thornton. 2017. Women in Business: New perspectives on risk and reward.
- <sup>12</sup> Ghosh, J. 2009. Never Done and Poorly Paid: Women's Work in Globalising India. New Delhi: Women Unlimited.
- <sup>13</sup> IMF. 2013. Women, Work, and the Economy: Macroeconomic Gains from Gender Equity.
- <sup>14</sup>McKinsey Global Institute. 2015. The Power of Parity.
- <sup>15</sup> IMF. 2013. Women, Work, and the Economy: Macroeconomic Gains from Gender Equity.
- <sup>16</sup> Heintz, J. 2006. Globalization, economic policy and employment: Poverty and gender implications.

- <sup>17</sup> Barrett, C. 2014, May 15. Gender Quotas Feel Coercive but Appear to Work. Financial Times. Retrieved from: https://www.ft.com/content/aef9d9c4-d521-11e3-9187-00144feabdc0
- <sup>18</sup> Companies Act 2013. Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India. Retrieved from: http://www.mca. gov.in/SearchableActs/Section149.htm
- <sup>19</sup> Press Information Bureau, Government of India. 2017. Maternity Benefit (Amendment) Bill, 2016 passed in the Parliament.
- Nanda, P. K. 2017, March 10. Lok Sabha passes bill to raise paid maternity leave to six months. Livemint.http:// www.livemint.com/Politics/f4G4ZBmTekpkYk8RKL9fBL/ Parliament-passes-bill-to-raise-maternity-leave-to-26weeks.html
- <sup>21</sup> Galani, U. 2015, March 27. India's boardroom diversity drive has weird result. Reuters. http://www.reuters.com/article/idlN227114948120150327
- <sup>22</sup> Institutional Investor Advisory Service. 2017. Corporate India Women on Boards. Retrieved from: https://docs.wixstatic.com/ugd/09d5d3\_bff9bfcbf6604b948b-d8464a0a84d8e6.pdf
- <sup>23</sup> Local Circles. 2017. Startups and SMEs say maternity bill will impact hiring of women. Retrieved from: https:// www.localcircles.com/a/press/page/startupmaternitybill#.WbQa-9MjEWo
- <sup>24</sup> Balachandran, M. & Karnik, M.India's long history with sexual harassment at workplaces. Quartz. Retrieved from: https://qz.com/931653/indias-long-history-with-sexual-harassment-at-workplaces/
- <sup>25</sup> Indian National Bar Association and Netrika Consulting. 2017. Report Garima. Sexual Harassment at Workplace.
- <sup>26</sup>Government of India. 2013. The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace: Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal Act, 2013.
- <sup>27</sup> Peregrine, M. W. 2016, October 12. Corporate Board Diversity Gets Push From Business Leaders. The New York Times. Retrieved from: https://www. nytimes.com/2016/10/14/business/dealbook/corpo-

24 www.justjobsnetwork.org Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance?: Evidence from India JustJobs Network 25

- rate-board-diversity-gets-push-from-business-leaders. html?mcubz=3
- <sup>28</sup> Jacobs, E. 2017, June 4. How Goldman changed its ways to boost women at the top. Financial Times. Retrieved from: https://www.ft.com/content/51971b96-2f3e-11e7-9555-23ef563ecf9a
- <sup>29</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>30</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>31</sup> Steven K., Bourmpoula E. & Silberman A. 2014. Why is female labour force participation declining so sharply in India? ILO Research Paper No. 10, International Labour Office.
- <sup>32</sup> Steven K., Bourmpoula E. & Silberman A. 2014. Why is female labour force participation declining so sharply in India? ILO Research Paper No. 10, International Labour Office.
- <sup>33</sup> Steven K., Bourmpoula E. & Silberman A. 2014. Why is female labour force participation declining so sharply in India? ILO Research Paper No. 10, International Labour Office.
- <sup>34</sup> McKinsey. 2007. Women Matter: Gender Diversity, A Corporate Performance Driver. McKinsey & Company. Catalyst. 2007. The Bottom Line: Corporate Performance and Women's Representation on Boards.
- <sup>35</sup> IMF. 2016. Gender Diversity in Senior Positions and Firm Performance: Evidence from Europe.
- <sup>36</sup> IMF. 2016. Gender Diversity in Senior Positions and Firm Performance: Evidence from Europe.
- <sup>37</sup> Campbell, K., & Mínguez-Vera, A. 2008. Gender diversity in the boardroom and firm financial performance. Journal of Business Ethics, 83(3), 435-451.
- <sup>38</sup> Farrell, K. A., & Hersch, P. L. 2005. Additions to corporate boards: the effect of gender. Journal of Corporate Finance, 11(1), 85-106. Khan, W. A., & Vieito, J. P. 2013. CEO gender and firm performance. Journal of Economics and Business, 67, 55-66. Dezsö, C. L., & Ross, D. G. (2012). Does female representation in top management improve firm performance? A panel data investigation. Strategic Management Journal, 33(9), 1072-1089.

- <sup>39</sup> Huang, J., & Kisgen, D. J. 2013. Gender and corporate finance: Are male executives overconfident relative to female executives? Journal of Financial Economics, 108(3), 822-839.
- <sup>40</sup> Sarkar, J., & Selarka, E. 2015. Women on board and performance of family firms: Evidence from India. Retrieved from:https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers
- <sup>41</sup> Haldar, A., Shah, R., & Rao, S. N. 2015. Gender Diversity in Large Listed Indian Companies. Corporate Ownership & Control, 573.
- <sup>42</sup> Adams, R. B., & Ferreira, D. 2009. Women in the boardroom and their impact on governance and performance. Journal of Financial Economics, 94(2), 291-309.
- <sup>43</sup> Ahern, K. R., & Dittmar, A. K. 2012. The changing of the boards: The impact on firm valuation of mandated female board representation. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 127(1), 137-197.
- <sup>44</sup> Du Rietz, A., & Henrekson, M. 2000. Testing the female underperformance hypothesis. Small Business Economics, 14(1), 1-10.
- <sup>45</sup> Lam, K. C., McGuinness, P. B., & Vieito, J. P. 2013. CEO gender, executive compensation and firm performance in Chinese-listed enterprises. Pacific-Basin Finance Journal. 21(1). 1136-1159.
- <sup>46</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>47</sup> Catalyst. 2012. The "think director, think ceo" myth: Fortune 500 companies. Analysis based on 2011 Catalyst Census: Fortune 500 Women Board Directors.
- <sup>48</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>49</sup> Spencer Stuart. 2015. Spencer Stuart Board Index. Retrieved from:https://www.spencerstuart.com/~/media/pdf%20files/research%20and%20insight%20pdfs/ssbi-2015 110215-web.pdf
- <sup>50</sup> McGregor, J. 2017, June 7. The number of women CEOs in the Fortune 500 is at an all-time high of 32. The Washington Post.
- <sup>51</sup> Catalyst Knowledge Center. 2017, November 27. Women in S&P 500 Companies. Retrieved from: http://www.catalyst.org/knowledge/women-sp-500-companies

- <sup>52</sup> Fairfax, L. M. 2006. Clogs in the pipeline: The mixed data on women directors and continued barriers to their advancement. Md. L. Rev., 65, 579.
- 53 Catalyst Knowledge Center. 2017, February 7. Women In Management. Retrieved from: http://www.catalyst. org/knowledge/women-management
- <sup>54</sup> Fairfax, L. M. 2006. Clogs in the pipeline: The mixed data on women directors and continued barriers to their advancement. Md. L. Rev., 65, 579.
- <sup>55</sup> Fairfax, L. M. 2006. Clogs in the pipeline: The mixed data on women directors and continued barriers to their advancement. Md. L. Rev., 65, 579
- <sup>56</sup> Dwyer, S., Richard, O. C., & Chadwick, K. 2003. Gender diversity in management and firm performance: The influence of growth orientation and organizational culture. Journal of Business Research, 56(12), 1009-1019.
- <sup>57</sup> Jackson, S. E., Joshi, A., & Erhardt, N. L. (2003). Recent research on team and organizational diversity: SWOT analysis and implications. Journal of management, 29(6), 801-830.
- <sup>58</sup> Ali, M., Kulik, C. T., & Metz, I. 2011. The gender diversity-performance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(07), 1464-1485.
- <sup>59</sup> Leonard, J. S., Levine, D. I., & Joshi, A. 2004. Do birds of a feather shop together? The effects on performance of employees' similarity with one another and with customers. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 25(6), 731-754
- <sup>60</sup> Frink D.D., Robinson R.K., Reithel B., Arthur M.M., Ammeter A.P., Ferris G.R., Kaplan D.M.& Morristte H.S. 2003. Gender demography and organizational performance: A two-study investigation with convergence, Group & Organization Management, 28 (1), 127-147.
- <sup>61</sup> Ali, M., Kulik, C. T., & Metz, I. 2011. The gender diversity–performance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(07), 1464-1485.
- <sup>62</sup> Pfeffer, J. 1983. Organizational demography. In B. Staw& L. Cummings (Eds.), Research in Organizational Behavior ,5, 299-357. Greenwich, CT: JAI.
- <sup>63</sup> Frink D.D., Robinson R.K., Reithel B., Arthur M.M., Ammeter A.P., Ferris G.R., Kaplan D.M.& Morristte H.S. 2003.

- Gender demography and organizational performance: A two-study investigation with convergence, Group & Organization Management,28 (1), 127-147.
- <sup>64</sup> Cox, T. H., Lobel, S. A., & McLeod, P. L. (1991). Effects of ethnic group cultural differences on cooperative and competitive behavior on a group task. Academy of management journal, 34(4), 827-847.
- <sup>65</sup> Mannix, E., & Neale, M. A. 2005. What differences make a difference? The promise and reality of diverse teams in organizations. Psychological science in the public interest, 6(2), 31-55.
- <sup>66</sup>Mannix, E., & Neale, M. A. 2005. What differences make a difference? The promise and reality of diverse teams in organizations. Psychological science in the public interest, 6(2), 31-55.
- <sup>67</sup> Ali, M., Kulik, C. T., & Metz, I. 2011. The gender diversity–performance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(07), 1464-1485.
- <sup>68</sup>Thomas, D.A. & Ely, R. J. 1996. Making Differences Matter: A New Paradigm for Managing Diversity.
- <sup>69</sup> Ernst & Young. Navigating disruption with gender diversity? Think again. Retrieved from: http://www. ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/EY-women-in-industry/\$FILE/EY-women-in-industry.pdf
- <sup>70</sup> Kramer, V. W., Konrad, A. M., Erkut, S., & Hooper, M. J. 2006. Critical mass on corporate boards: Why three or more women enhance governance,pp. 2-4. Wellesley, MA: Wellesley Centers for Women.
- <sup>71</sup> Ernst & Young. Navigating disruption with gender diversity? Think again. Retrieved from: http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/EY-women-in-industry/\$FILE/EY-women-in-industry.pdf
- <sup>72</sup> Turner, L. 2009. Genderdiversity and innovative performance, Int. J. Innovation and Sustainable Development, 4(2/3), 123–134. Parra, M.D.,Teruel, M.& Segarra, A. 2015. Gender diversity and innovation in manufacturing and service firms. Working Paper. Schneider, J.&Eckl V. 2016. The Difference Makes a Difference: Team diversity and innovative capacity.
- <sup>73</sup>The Boston Consulting Group. 2017.The Mix that Matters: Innovation through Diversity.

www.justjobsnetwork.org Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance? : Evidence from India JustJobs Network 27

- <sup>74</sup> Dezsö, C. L., & Ross, D. G. (2012). Does female representation in top management improve firm performance? A panel data investigation. Strategic Management Journal, 33(9), 1072-1089.
- <sup>75</sup> Ernst & Young. Navigating disruption with gender diversity? Think again. Retrieved from: http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/EY-women-in-industry/\$FILE/EY-women-in-industry.pdf
- <sup>76</sup>The Boston Consulting Group. 2017.The Mix that Matters: Innovation through Diversity.
- <sup>77</sup> McKinsey and Company. 2008. Women Matter 2, Female Leadership, a competitive edge for the future
- <sup>78</sup> McKinsey and Company. 2008. Women Matter 2: Female Leadership, a competitive edge for the future.
- <sup>79</sup> Mannix, E., & Neale, M. A. (2005). What differences make a difference? The promise and reality of diverse teams in organizations. Psychological science in the public interest, 6(2), 31-55.
- <sup>80</sup> Byrne, D. E. 1971. The attraction paradigm. New York: Academic Press
- <sup>81</sup> Tajfel, H. 1981. Human groups and social categories: Studies in social psychology. Cambridge,UK: Cambridge University Press., Turner, J. C. 1982. Toward a cognitive definition of the group. In H. Tajfel (Ed.), Social identityand group relations. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.Turner, J. C. 1987. Rediscovering the social group: A social categorization theory. Oxford,UK: Basil Blackwell.
- <sup>82</sup> Frink D.D., Robinson R.K., Reithel B., Arthur M.M., Ammeter A.P., Ferris G.R., Kaplan D.M.& Morristte H.S. 2003. Gender demography and organizational performance: A two-study investigation with convergence, Group & Organization Management, 28 (1): 127-147.
- <sup>83</sup> Mannix, E., & Neale, M. A. (2005). What differences make a difference? The promise and reality of diverse teams in organizations. Psychological science in the public interest, 6(2), 31-55.
- <sup>84</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- 85 Sheridan A.&Milgate, G. 2005. Accessing Board Positions: A Comparison of Female and Male Board Members'Views, 13 Corp. Governance: An int'l rev. 6.

- <sup>86</sup> Kravitz, D. A. 2003. More women in the workplace: Is there a payoff in firm performance? TheAcademy of Management Executive, 17(3): 148-149.
- <sup>87</sup> Elsass, P. M., & Graves, L. M. 1997. Demographic diversity in decision-making groups: The experiences of women and people of color. The Academy of Management Review. 22: 946-973.
- <sup>88</sup> Triandis, H. C., Kurowski, L. L., & Gelfand, M. J. 1994. Workplace diversity. In M. D. Dunnette& L. M. Hough (Eds.), Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology, Vol. 4: 769-827. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- <sup>89</sup> Chatman, J. A., & Flynn, F. J. 2001. The influence of demographic heterogeneity on the emergence and consequences of cooperative norms in work teams. Academy of Management Journal, 44: 956-974.
- <sup>90</sup>Pelled, L. H. 1996. Demographic diversity, conflict, and work group outcomes: An intervention process theory. Organization Science, 7, 615-631.
- <sup>91</sup> Ali, M., Kulik, C. T., & Metz, I. 2011. The gender diversity–performance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(07), 1464-1485.
- <sup>92</sup> IMF. 2016. Gender Diversity in Senior Positions and Firm Performance: Evidence from Europe.
- <sup>93</sup> IMF. 2016. Gender Diversity in Senior Positions and Firm Performance: Evidence from Europe.
- <sup>94</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>95</sup> Bear, S., Rahman, N., & Post, C. 2010. The impact of board diversity and gender composition on corporate social responsibility and firm reputation. Journal of Business Ethics, 97(2), 207-221.
- <sup>96</sup>Weber Shandwick. 2016 Gender Forward Pioneer 2016 Index.
- <sup>97</sup> Larkin, M. B., Bernardi, R. A., & Bosco, S. M. 2012. Board gender diversity, corporate reputation and market performance. International Journal of Banking and Finance, 9(1), 1.
- <sup>98</sup> Dowling, G.: 2006, 'How Good Corporate Reputations Create Corporate Value', Corporate Reputation Review 9, 134, 143

- <sup>99</sup> Bear, S., Rahman, N., & Post, C. 2010. The impact of board diversity and gender composition on corporate social responsibility and firm reputation. Journal of Business Ethics, 97(2), 207-221.
- <sup>100</sup> Mattin, D. 2017, August 7. In 2017, your internal culture is your brand. LinkedIn.
- <sup>101</sup> ManpowerGroup. 2015. 10th Annual Talent Shortage Survey. Retrieved from: http://www.manpowergroup. com/wps/wcm/connect/db23c560-08b6-485f-9bf6f5f38a43c76a/2015\_Talent\_Shortage\_Survey\_US-lo\_ res.pdf?MOD=AJPERES
- <sup>102</sup> Catalyst Information Center. 2012. India: The case for gender diversity. Retrieved from: http://www.catalyst. org/system/files/india\_the\_case\_for\_gender\_diversity\_0.pdf
- <sup>103</sup> Government of India. 2015. Economic Survey 2014-15. Retrieved from: http://indiabudget.nic.in/es2014-15/echapter-vol2.pdf
- <sup>104</sup> ManpowerGroup. 2015. 10th Annual Talent Shortage Survey. Retrieved from: http://www.manpowergroup. com/wps/wcm/connect/db23c560-08b6-485f-9bf6f5f38a43c76a/2015\_Talent\_Shortage\_Survey\_US-lo\_ res.pdf?MOD=AJPERES
- <sup>105</sup> Kapsos, S., Bourmpoula, E. & Silberman, A. 2014. Why is female labour force participation declining so sharply in India? Research Paper No. 10, ILO.
- <sup>106</sup> Catalyst Knowledge Center. 2016, August 12. Turnover and Retention. Retrieved from: http://www.catalyst.org/knowledge/turnover-and-retention#footnote20\_315fq4f
- <sup>107</sup> Kaplan, D. M., Wiley, J. W., &Maertz, C. P. 2011. The role of calculative attachment in the relationship between diversity climate and retention. Human Resource Management, 50(2), 271-287.
- <sup>108</sup> Chrobot-Mason, D., & Aramovich, N. P. 2013. The psychological benefits of creating an affirming climate for workplace diversity. Group & Organization Management, 38(6), 659-689.
- <sup>109</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>110</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.

- <sup>111</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.
- <sup>112</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.
- <sup>113</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.
- <sup>114</sup> Rhode, D. L., & Packel, A. K. 2014. Diversity on corporate boards: How much difference does difference make. Del. J. Corp. L., 39, 377.
- <sup>115</sup> Heminway, J. M., & Walters, S. A. 2009. WANTED: Female Corporate Directors (A Review of Professor Douglas M. Branson's No Seat at the Table).
- <sup>116</sup> Elstad, B., & Ladegard, G. 2012. Women on corporate boards: Key influencers or tokens?. Journal of Management & Governance, 16(4), 595-615.
- <sup>117</sup> Joecks, J., Pull, K., & Vetter, K. 2013. Gender diversity in the boardroom and firm performance: What exactly constitutes a "critical mass?". Journal of Business Ethics, 118(1), 61–72.
- <sup>118</sup> Frink D.D., Robinson R.K., Reithel B., Arthur M.M., Ammeter A.P., Ferris G.R., Kaplan D.M.& Morristte H.S. 2003. Gender demography and organizational performance: A two-study investigation with convergence, Group & Organization Management, 28 (1), 127-147.
- Ali, M., Kulik, C. T., & Metz, I. 2011. The gender diversityperformance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(07), 1464-1485
- <sup>119</sup> Kramer, V. W., Konrad&A. M., Erkut, S. 2006. Critical Mass on Corporate Boards: Why Three or More Women EnhanceGovernance, Executive Summary.
- <sup>120</sup> Datta, D. K., Guthrie, J. P. & Wright, P. M. 2003. HRM and firm productivity: Does industry matter? CAHRS Working Paper No. 03-02. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University, School of Industrial and Labor Relations, Center forAdvanced Human Resource Studies.
- <sup>121</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.

28 www.justjobsnetwork.org Does Gender Diversity Improve Firm Performance?: Evidence from India JustJobs Network 29

- <sup>122</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.
- <sup>123</sup> Joshi, A., & Roh, H. 2009. The role of context in work team diversity research: A meta-analytic review. Academy of Management Journal, 52(3), 599-627.
- <sup>124</sup> Dean, J. W., Jr., & Snell, S. A. 1991. Integrated manufacturing and job design: Moderating effects of organizational inertia. Academy of Management Journal, 34, 776-804.
- <sup>125</sup> Frink D.D., Robinson R.K., Reithel B., Arthur M.M., Ammeter A.P., Ferris G.R., Kaplan D.M.& Morristte H.S. 2003. Gender demography and organizational performance: A two-study investigation with convergence, Group & Organization Management, 28 (1), 127-147.
- <sup>126</sup> Frink D.D., Robinson R.K., Reithel B., Arthur M.M., Ammeter A.P., Ferris G.R., Kaplan D.M.& Morristte H.S. 2003. Gender demography and organizational performance: A two-study investigation with convergence, Group & Organization Management, 28 (1), 127-147.

- <sup>127</sup> Ali, M., Kulik, C. T., & Metz, I. 2011. The gender diversity–performance relationship in services and manufacturing organizations. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22(07), 1464-1485.
- <sup>128</sup> Sabharwal, M. 2014. Is diversity management sufficient? Organizational inclusion to further performance. Public Personnel Management, 43(2), 197-217.
- <sup>129</sup> Sabharwal, M. 2014. Is diversity management sufficient? Organizational inclusion to further performance. Public Personnel Management, 43(2), 197-217.
- <sup>130</sup> Sabharwal, M. 2014. Is diversity management sufficient? Organizational inclusion to further performance. Public Personnel Management, 43(2), 197-217.
- <sup>131</sup> Nishii, L. H. 2013. The benefits of climate for inclusion for gender-diverse groups. Academy of Management Journal, 56(6), 1754-1774.
- <sup>132</sup> Bördős, K., Csillag, M., & Scharl, A. 2015. What works in wage subsidies for young people: a review of issues, theory, policies and evidence. Employment working paper No. 199, Geneva: ILO.

30 www.justjobsnetwork.org





JustJobs Network is a private, nonpartisan organization finding evidence-based solutions to one of the most pressing challenges of our time: How to create more and better jobs worldwide. We produce empirical research on good job creation, focusing our work on the critical knowledge gaps in the global employment landscape.

Just Jobs convenes a global network of diverse stakeholders—including policy shapers, academics, and grassroots leaders—to deepen the practical implications of our research endeavors and amplify their impact. Through the combination of cutting-edge research and global knowledge sharing, we aim to forge a fresh, dynamic channel for policy dialogue on employment at national, regional and international levels. Our team members are based in New Delhi and Washington, D.C.

### www.justjobsnetwork.org



Supported by IKEA Foundation

### The Disha project

Disha, a partnership between the India Development Foundation and United Nations Development Programme, supported by IKEA Foundation, seeks to

improve the lives of one million Indian women by helping them learn marketable skills and connect to income opportunities. The project aims to enable women to become economically self-sufficient so that they, their families and future generations can have better opportunities in life.

www.in.undp.org/disha



Empowered lives
Resilient nations

On the ground in about 170 countries and territories, UNDP works to eradicate poverty while protecting the planet. We help countries develop strong policies, skills, partnerships and institutions so they can sustain their progress.

UNDP has worked in India since 1951 in almost all areas of human development, from democratic governance to poverty eradication, to sustainable energy and environmental management. UNDP's programmes are aligned with national priorities and are reviewed and adjusted annually.

www.in.undp.org

#### Report design by

